### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA,

ANGELO ATWELL,	)	
Petitioner,	)	
VS.	)	CASE NO. SC14-193
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
Respondent.	)	
	)	

## PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, State of Florida

CAREY HAUGHWOUT
Public Defender
15<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit of Florida
421 Third Street/6<sup>th</sup> Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600

Paul E. Petillo Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 508438 ppetillo@pd15.state.fl.us appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

Attorney for Petitioner

##

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The relevant facts are taken from the Fourth District's opinion. In 1992, petitioner, Angelo Atwell, was convicted of first degree murder and armed robbery. For the murder, he received a mandatory life sentence without the possibility of parole for 25 years; for the robbery, he received a life sentence.

In February 2013, petitioner moved to correct his mandatory life sentence on the ground that it constituted cruel and unusual punishment under *Miller v*. *Alabama*, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012). The trial court denied the motion, and petitioner appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

The Fourth District affirmed, holding that *Miller* applied only to "a sentencing scheme that mandates life in prison without possibility of parole for juvenile offenders." *Atwell v. State*, No. 13-1972 (Fla. 4th DCA Nov. 13, 2013) at page 2 (*quoting Miller*, 132 S.Ct. at 2469). Petitioner's timely filed motion for rehearing was denied on December 27, 2013. His notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was filed January 24, 2014. This jurisdictional brief follows.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court may review a decision that expressly construes a provision of the state or federal constitution. "For jurisdiction to exist, the district court's opinion must explain or amplify some identifiable constitutional provision in a way that is an evolutionary development in the law or that expresses doubt about some legal point." Harry Lee Anstead, Gerald Kogan, Thomas D. Hall & Robert Waters, *The Operation and Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida*, 29 Nova L.R. 431, 506 (2005) (footnote omitted).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal explained or amplified the Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution when it held that *Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012), does not apply to a juvenile's mandatory life sentence without the possibility of parole for 25 years because *Miller* applied only to "a sentencing scheme that mandates life in prison without possibility of parole for juvenile offenders." *Atwell v. State*, No. 13-1972 (Fla. 4th DCA Nov. 13, 2013) at page 2 (*quoting Miller*, 132 S.Ct. at 2469). Accordingly, this Court has discretionary jurisdiction and should review the decision below.

#### Argument

The Decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal Expressly Construes a Provision of the Federal Constitution

Under article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, this Court may review a decision that expressly construes a provision of the state or federal constitution. "For jurisdiction to exist, the district court's opinion must explain or amplify some identifiable constitutional provision in a way that is an evolutionary development in the law or that expresses doubt about some legal point." Harry Lee Anstead, Gerald Kogan, Thomas D. Hall & Robert Waters, *The Operation and Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida*, 29 Nova L.R. 431, 506 (2005) (footnote omitted).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal explained or amplified the Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution when it held that *Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012), does not apply to a juvenile's mandatory life sentence without the possibility of parole for 25 years because *Miller* applied only to "a sentencing scheme that mandates life in prison without possibility of parole for juvenile offenders." *Atwell v. State*, No. 13-1972 (Fla. 4th DCA Nov. 13, 2013) at page 2 (*quoting Miller*, 132 S.Ct. at 2469). But *Miller* also states that a mandatory sentencing scheme for juveniles "prevents those meting out punishment from considering a juvenile's lessened culpability and greater capacity for change, and runs afoul of our cases' requirement of

individualized sentencing for defendants facing the most serious penalties." 132 S.Ct. at 2460. Indeed Chief Justice Roberts made this point in his dissent:

This process has no discernible end point—or at least none consistent with our Nation's legal traditions. *Roper* and *Graham* attempted to limit their reasoning to the circumstances they addressed—*Roper* to the death penalty, and *Graham* to nonhomicide crimes. Having cast aside those limits, the Court cannot now offer a credible substitute, and does not even try. After all, the Court tells us, "none of what [*Graham*] said about children ... is crime-specific." *Ante*, at 2465. The principle behind today's decision seems to be only that because juveniles are different from adults, they must be sentenced differently. *See ante*, at 2467 – 2469. **There is no clear reason that principle would not bar all mandatory sentences for juveniles, or any juvenile sentence as harsh as what a similarly situated adult would receive. Unless confined, the only stopping point for the Court's analysis would be never permitting juvenile offenders to be tried as adults.** 

Miller, 132 S.Ct. at 2482 (Roberts, C.J., dissenting) (emphasis added).

Here, the trial court did not take into account how juveniles are different before imposing a *mandatory* life sentence without the possibility of parole for 25 years. Accordingly, petitioner's sentence violates the Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause of the Eighth Amendment.

Because the decision below expressly construes a provision of the federal constitution, this Court should accept review.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, this Court should accept jurisdiction.