IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

ANGELO ATWELL,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. SC14-193

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO Florida Bar No. 0656879 Bureau Chief

JOSEPH A. TRINGALI Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0134924 1515 North Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Counsel for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court of Appeal except that Respondent may also be referred to as the State.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly construes a provision of the state or federal constitution. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In its written opinion in this case, the Fourth District Court of Appeal detailed the facts of this case. <u>See Atwell v. State</u>, 128 So.3d 167 (Fla. 4th DCA 2013), a copy of which is attached hereto for the convenience of this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner has improperly invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal does not explain or amplify a provision of the United States Constitution. The sentencing scheme in place at the time of appellant's offense did not require a mandatory sentence of life without parole for the murder. Accordingly, *Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012) is inapplicable.

Secondly, the sentence imposed in this case was not mandatory; the sentencing scheme in effect at the time of Petitioner's sentence clearly allowed a sentencing court to take certain mitigating factors into account when imposing a sentence. There is nothing in the record to support Petitioner's argument that the trial court imposed a mandatory sentence without considering factors which may have been unique to him.

Finally, Respondent submits that where, as here, a district court of appeal merely rules on an argument which is based on an opinion from the United States Supreme Court, it does not "expressly" construe a provision of the federal constitution as required by the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

ARGUMENT

PETITIONER IMPROPERLY INVOKES THE JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT PURSUANT TO FLORIDA RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii); THE OPINION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT EXPRESSLY CONSTRUE A PROVISION OF THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTION.

Petitioner asks this Court to use its power of discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of the Florida Fourth District Court of Appeal. He contends the Court's decision in *Atwell v. State*, 128 So.3d 167 (Fla. 4th DCA 2013) construes a provision of the federal constitution. In a word, he is wrong.

Briefly, Petitioner contends the Fourth District Court of Appeal "explained or amplified the Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution when it held that *Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012) does not apply to a juvenile's mandatory life sentence without the possibility of parole for 25 years because *Miller* applied only to 'a sentencing scheme that mandates life in prison without possibility of parole for juvenile offenders." (IB 2). He argues that, "the trial court did not take into account how juveniles are different before imposing a *mandatory* life sentence without the possibility of parole for 25 years," and concludes, "petitioner's sentence violates

the Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause of the Eighth Amendment." (IB 4).

In the first place, the Fourth District Court of Appeal properly noted in its opinion that, "It is clear that the underpinning of the holding of both *Miller* and *Graham [v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010)] was the ineligibility for release on parole. Addressing that issue, the Court said:

Appellant was not sentenced to life without the possibility of parole for his murder conviction. The sentencing scheme in place at the time of appellant's offense did not require a mandatory sentence of life without parole for the murder. Miller is inapplicable, and appellant would not be entitled to relief even if *Miller* applies retroactively.

Secondly, Respondent submits the sentencing scheme in effect at the time of Petitioner's sentence clearly allowed a sentencing court to take certain mitigating factors into account when imposing a sentence. Section 921.0026 Florida Statutes (2003), permitted a trial judge to downwardly depart from the lowest permissible sentence shown on the Criminal Punishment Code scoresheet. See *State v. Ayers*, 901 So.2d 942 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2005). As the Fourth District Court of Appeal explained in *State v. Cooper*, 889 So.2d 119, 119 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004):

Three elements must be shown to establish the existence of the mitigating circumstance listed in section 921.0026(2)(j): (a) the offense must have been "committed in an unsophisticated

manner," (b) the offense must have been "an isolated incident," and (c) the defendant must have "shown remorse" for the offense. "To justify departure on this basis, all three elements must be articulated by the trial judge and supported by the record.

In the case at bar, Petitioner's conviction and sentence were affirmed in a per curiam decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal with no written opinion. See *Atwell v. State*, 614 So.2d 1104 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). Therefore, there is nothing in the record to support Petitioner's argument that the trial court imposed a mandatory sentence without considering factors which may have been unique to him.

Finally, Respondent submits that where, as here, a district court of appeal merely rules on an argument which is based on an opinion from the United States Supreme Court, it does not "expressly" construe a provision of the federal constitution as required by the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. In *Rojas v. State*, 288 So.2d 234 (Fla. 1974) this Court specifically rejected such an expansive reading of the Rule saying:

Although our direct appeals jurisdiction includes cases in which the trial court inherently passes upon the constitutionality of a Statute, we may not accept a direct appeal based upon an Inherent construction of a Constitutional provision; it is

insufficient to invoke our direct appeals jurisdiction that there was an Inherent construction of a Constitutional provision in the judgment appealed from, but rather there must be a ruling by the trial court which explains, defines or overtly expresses a view which eliminates some existing doubt as to a constitutional provision in order to support a direct appeal. [footnote omitted] In the present case, there is no such definition or explanation of the Fourteenth Amendment or any other constitutional provision as far as the petit jury challenge is concerned. The trial court, if anything, merely Applied the provisions of the Fourteenth Amendment to the facts it determined existed in the instant case: in fact, the apparent basis of the ruling was that no showing of unconstitutional discrimination was made. Applying is not synonymous with Construing; the former is NOT a basis for our jurisdiction, while the Express construction of a constitutional provision is. Hence, no basis for direct appeal to this Court has been presented in the petit jury challenge.

In the case at bar, where the Fourth District Court of Appeal considered Petitioner's argument and found the holding of the United States Supreme Court inapplicable based on the facts of the case, this Court does not have jurisdiction to review that decision. Accordingly, Petitioner's petition for review should be rejected.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE based on the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited herein, Petitioner respectfully prays for an Order of this Court should rejecting Petitioner's petition for review, and for such other and further relief as to the Court may seem just and proper.